



ARTICLE I Purpose

Section 1. PURPOSE. SIM (the “Organization”) is organized to provide international leadership and education in the successful management and use of information technology to achieve business objectives.

ARTICLE II Incorporation

Section 1. SIM is a non-profit (c)(6) organization, incorporated under the laws of the State of Illinois.

ARTICLE III Membership

Section 1. MEMBERSHIP QUALIFICATIONS. Members in the Organization must fall within one of four categories of leaders as described below:

1. Practitioner

A senior information management (IM) professional in a private or public sector organization who is a corporate/division head or a member of an IM management team supporting the corporate/division IM head with key management responsibilities. This category includes:

- CIOs and CTOs
- direct reports to CIOs or CTOs; and
- Other IM leaders and managers, whose roles significantly impact the profitability and direction of their company.

For positions below that of CIO, chapters may require an endorsement or sponsorship by an applicant company's CIO for membership in the chapter to be considered.

2. Academic Member

A full-time university or college faculty member who is making significant contribution to the IS field. This category includes:

- An academician who is a recognized scholar and conducts practice-oriented research and/or is a leader in IM curriculum design initiatives.
- Someone who has reached a senior level in the academic community and has significant influence over the direction of IM education.

3. Consultant Member

Leading experts from consulting firms may also qualify for SIM membership by virtue of the contributions such individuals and their organizations make to the IM world. Leaders at the partner/principal level who influence the direction of their own company or the direction of their clients' companies are qualified. These individuals must be able to demonstrate that they operate at the senior level to qualify and their responsibilities are primarily in delivering IM services, not primarily selling IM services.



4. Other Leaders

A vendor, recruiter, non IT executive, or leader from another profession with a major role in matters that impact the strategic direction of technology will be considered for membership at the Chapter and International level.

The following provisions are to be considered when reviewing applications for membership:

- Emeritus status may be afforded to retired members.
- All chapters and International will require members to adhere to a code of conduct that is communicated either implicitly or explicitly.
- All membership renewals are subject to a review by the issuing chapter and in the case of At-Large memberships by International.
- A chapter member who relocates and then submits an application to join another chapter will be automatically accepted by the receiving chapter for a one-year period provided the applicant's job has not changed as to preclude him/her from participating in the Organization. At the end of the one-year period membership in the chapter will be reviewed by the chapter.
- Applications for chapter membership by Regional Learning Forums (RLF) graduates will be automatically accepted for the year following RLF graduation provided the applicant's job has not changed as to preclude him/her from participating in the Organization. At the end of the one- year period membership in the chapter will be reviewed by the chapter.
- Notwithstanding the above two provisions, all chapters will ensure that more than 50% of the chapter is comprised of practitioners.

Section 2. TYPES OF MEMBERS. There shall be four types of members: individual, enterprise, academic institution and vendor/service provider.

1. INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS

- a) At-large Members. There shall be a type of membership designated as At-Large Members and which shall be comprised of those individuals who join the Organization in their individual capacities and do not belong to a chartered chapter. There shall be two types of Individual Members. Corporate At-Large Members shall be those individuals employed by corporations. Non-Profit At-large Members shall be those individuals employed by non-profit organizations, government bodies, colleges, universities and other academic institutions.
- b) Chapter Members. There shall be a type of membership designated as Chapter Members which shall be comprised of those individuals who join the Organization through a chartered Chapter. There shall be two types of Chapter Members. Corporate Chapter Members shall be those individuals employed by corporations. Non-Profit Chapter Members shall be those individuals employed by non-profit organizations, government bodies, colleges, universities and other academic institutions.
- c) Founding Members. Shall be comprised of those twelve persons who were members of the Founding Committee. Charter Members shall be comprised of those persons who joined the Organization prior to September 30, 1969.



2. ENTERPRISE MEMBERS

- a) Enterprise Members. There shall be two types of membership designated as Enterprise Members which shall be comprised of those public and private organizations which display an interest in and a support for the work of the Organization. Corporate Enterprise Members shall be those organizations which are corporations. Non-Profit Enterprise Members shall be those organizations which are non-profit organizations, government bodies, colleges, universities and other academic institutions.
- b) Each Enterprise Member may select up to five representatives to receive program benefits. Each representative of an Enterprise Member must meet the qualifications for individual membership as set forth in Section 1 of this Article. The Enterprise Member will designate one person to be its voting representative, and to represent the Enterprise Member in all activities of the Organization. At least one of the representatives must be a chief (CIO) or divisional (DIO) information officer of an organization within their enterprise which is responsible for information systems and technology.

3. ACADEMIC INSTITUTION MEMBERS

- a) There shall be a type of membership designated as Academic Institution, which shall be comprised of academic institutions which display interest in mutual education benefits between academia and other senior information systems executives.
- b) Each Academic Institution Member may select up to five representatives within an academic unit (departments, colleges, programs, etc.) to receive program benefits. Each representative of an Academic Institution Member must meet the qualifications for individual membership as set forth in Section 1 of this Article. The Academic Institution member will designate one person to be its voting representative, and to represent the Academic Institution Member in all activities of the Organization.

4. VENDOR AND SERVICE PROVIDER MEMBERS.

- a) There shall be a type of membership designated as Vendor and Service Provider, which shall be comprised of public and private organizations which display interest in mutual educational benefit between their organization and other SIM members. There shall be two types of Vendor & Service Provider Members: Partner and Sponsor.
- b) Vendor or Service Provider organizations will receive full member benefits for up to five (Partner) or three (Vendor) members of their organization dependent on the type of membership. In addition to voting privileges, they shall also provide additional educational opportunities to the Organization and receive appropriate recognition.



WHERE
IT
LEADERS
CONNECT

SIM BYLAWS

Section 3. APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP. Applications for membership in the Organization shall be either submitted to the Headquarters staff of the Organization on such forms as shall be approved from time to time by the Board of Directors, or to the appropriate chapter leaders. An invitation to join the Organization will be extended to applicants based upon the qualifications of the applicants as described in Section 1 above.

Section 4. RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF MEMBERS. The members of all types shall have the same rights and privileges. The members shall not be liable for the debts or obligations of the Organization. No member shall receive compensation for services rendered to the Organization except as approved by the Board Personnel Committee, but a member may be reimbursed for expenses, including overhead, reasonably incurred on behalf of the Organization.

Section 5. REVOCATION OR SUSPENSION OF MEMBERSHIP. Membership may be revoked or suspended by the Organization if any member is determined by the Board of Directors to have acted in a manner detrimental to the purpose of the Organization, as set forth in these Bylaws, or any other rules or codes of ethics and practices that may be adopted by the Organization from time to time.

Section 6. MEMBERSHIP YEAR. The membership year for all classes of members shall be from January 1 to December 31.



ARTICLE IV Meeting of Members

Section 1. ANNUAL MEETINGS. The annual meeting of the members shall be held during the period of the annual conference of each year at such time and place as the Board of Directors may by resolution determine for the purpose of transacting such business as may come before the meeting. The election of officers and members of the Board of Directors shall be conducted by any means permitted by applicable law as set forth in Article VI, Section 3.

Section 2. SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meetings of the members may be called by the Chair or the Board of Directors. Such a meeting shall be called by the Chair when requested in writing by a majority of the members. Any such request shall state the purpose or purposes for which the special meeting is called. The business transacted at any special meeting shall be limited to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice referred to in Article IV, Section 4.

Section 3. PLACE OF MEETING. Meetings of members shall be held at such a place as may be designated by the Board of Directors or by the officers calling such meeting.

Section 4. NOTICE OF MEETING. Notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered not less than fifteen (15) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting. Notice may be delivered by any means permitted by applicable law.

Section 5. QUORUM. Members representing ten (10) percent of the current membership of the Organization entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of members for the transaction of business except as otherwise provided by statute or by the articles of incorporation. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the members, the members entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or represented. At the reconvening of such adjourned meeting, at which a quorum shall be present or represented, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called.

Section 6. MEETING PROCEDURE. In transacting official business, the rules of parliamentary procedure shall govern all meetings of members of the Organization.

Section 7. VOTING. At all meetings of the Organization, each member, shall be entitled to one vote either in person or by proxy executed in writing by the member or the member's duly authorized attorney in fact. No proxy shall be valid after eleven months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy. When a quorum is present at any meeting, the vote of a majority of the members present or represented by proxy shall be necessary for the adoption of any matter.

In all elections of officers and members of the Board of Directors, each member shall be entitled to one vote conducted pursuant to Article VI, Section 3. There shall be no cumulative voting.



ARTICLE V Board of Directors

Section 1. GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES. The Board of Directors, as hereinafter constituted, shall fulfill the following purposes: (i) to develop the Organization's vision, mission and operating values, (ii) to represent the interests of all of the Organization's constituents, including chapter and non-chapter members, individual and enterprise participants, and corporate and non-profit entities, in pursuit of the Organization's mission, (iii) to establish, approve, prioritize and evaluate the strategies, policies, programs and activities that support the Organization's vision, mission and operating values; and (iv) to oversee the Organization's executive management who translate mission and strategy into measurable goals and action plans, and to ensure those plans are carried out. In fulfillment of these purposes, it shall exercise the following powers:

- a. To set the Organization's direction and strategy, including the creation of strategic plans;
- b. To set policy and develop practices governing the Organization;
- c. To create the Organization's financial structures and practices, including budgets, investment policies, resource allocations, revenue sources, and fund decisions;
- d. To approve budget exceptions;
- e. To advise and approve or reject the Board Development Committee's recommended slate of candidates for the Board of Directors;
- f. To approve and revoke chapter charters and alliance agreements by simple majority; and
- g. To exercise all powers granted to a board of directors under Illinois law.

Section 2. REGULAR MEETINGS. The regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without other notice than this bylaw immediately preceding and at the same place as the annual meeting of members.

Section 3. SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meeting of the Board of Directors may be held at any time on the call of the Chair or at the request in writing of any two (2) members of the Board of Directors.

Section 4. NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING. Notice of each special meeting shall be by any means permitted by applicable law by the Executive Director at the direction of the Chair to each member of the Board of Directors addressed to the member at the member's residence or usual place of business at least ten (10) days before the day on which the meeting is to be held. Neither the business to be transacted, nor the purpose of any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.

Section 5. QUORUM. The presence of one-half of the total number of the members of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. In the absence of a quorum, a majority of the members of the Board of Directors present may adjourn the meeting to a specified day. The Executive Director shall give all absent members of the Board of Directors five (5) days' notice of such adjourned date. The Board of Directors members present, on such adjourned date, shall constitute a quorum for the purposes of conducting business, provided that in no event shall a quorum consist of less than one third of the whole Board of Directors.

Section 6. VOTING. The act of the majority of the members of the Board of Directors present shall be the act of the Board of Directors, unless the act of a greater number is required by statute, the articles of incorporation or these bylaws.



Section 7. INFORMAL AND OTHER ACTION BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS. Any action which is required to be taken, or which may be taken, at any meeting of the Board of Directors, may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, either via mail or electronically, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all members of the Board of Directors then in office. Such consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of all the members of the Board of Directors. Telephonic, electronic, and other means of communication may be utilized for meetings and votes of the Board of Directors to the extent permitted by law.

ARTICLE VI Officers and Members of Board of Directors

Section 1. DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS. The Officers of the Organization shall be a Chair; Vice Chair; Chair Emeritus; Secretary; and Treasurer. The directors of the Board are the Officers and a minimum of four and a maximum of eight other directors, as is determined from time to time by the Board, with at least four of the directors as designated chapter representatives. New directors and officers shall be elected by the members annually to fill positions vacated due to term limits and each director or Officer so elected shall hold office until his successor has been elected and qualified. The Chair, Vice Chair, and Chair Emeritus may each serve one (1) two-year term, in a particular position, and the Secretary, Treasurer, and other directors may serve up to two (2) three-year terms. One person may not serve in two elected positions at the same time.

In order to be qualified for election, the Chair must be a current Officer of the Board of Directors. An Officer must be a member of the Organization in good standing, and must remain so during the term of office.

Section 2. MEMBERS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS. The Board of Directors shall consist of:

1. The Officers of the Organization
2. A minimum of four and maximum of eight other directors who shall serve as voting members,
3. The Executive Director who shall serve as a non-voting member;

Additional non-voting members appointed by the Chair, with terms concurrent with that of the Chair. All members of the Board of Directors shall be members of the Organization in good standing and must remain so during the term of office. Officers and members of the Board of Directors need not be residents of Illinois.

Section 3. ELECTION. Elections shall be held annually to fill any positions which would be vacated at the start of the next year. Members of the Organization shall vote annually on candidates for each officer position left vacant due to term expirations or resignations. The Executive Director shall cause ballots to be sent by any means permitted by applicable law to each member of the Organization not later than the 15th of November of each year. All such ballots shall be returned no later than the 15th of December to be counted in the election. Each office on the Board of Directors shall be filled by the candidate receiving a plurality of affirmative votes cast for the position. Any vacancy caused by the failure of a candidate to receive sufficient affirmative votes shall be filled by the other elected officers, acting as the Board of Directors.



Section 4. NOMINATION. The Board Development Committee shall annually nominate a candidate for each vacant office and present the slate of candidates to the Board of Directors for approval. After a slate has the approval of the Board of Directors, it shall be presented to the membership in accordance with Section 3.

Nominations may also be made by petition of at least fifty (50) members of the Organization submitted to the Board of Directors not later than the first day of August preceding each annual election. The Board of Directors shall present all such nominations to the membership.

Section 5. REMOVAL. Any Officers of the Organization may be removed by the Board of Directors, whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Organization will be served thereby, by the vote of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors.

Any member of the Board of Directors who is absent from three (3) consecutive meetings of the Board of Directors may be removed by the vote of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors. Any member of the Board of Directors may be removed either for or without cause by the vote of a majority of the voting members of the Organization.

Section 6. RESIGNATIONS. Any member of the Board of Directors may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chair or Secretary/Treasurer of the Organization. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein; and, unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 7. VACANCIES. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, for any reason, may be left vacant or may be filled by appointment by the Chair with the approval of the Board of Directors. If at anytime the Chair cannot serve, the Board of Directors can select a replacement by simple majority of the Board of Directors.

Section 8. DUTIES OF THE CHAIR. The Chair shall be the lead director of the Board of Directors and the Chief Volunteer Officer of the Organization. The Chair shall perform all duties that pertain to the office of Chair and that may be assigned by the Board of Directors. In furtherance, but not in limitation of his or her office, the Chair's primary duties shall be to:

1. Call and preside over all Board of Directors meetings and all meetings of the members of the Organization.
2. Provide leadership for the strategic planning process.
3. See that all orders and resolutions of the board of Directors are carried into effect.
4. Execute the bonds, mortgages and other contracts requiring the seal of the Organization
5. Superintend all other officers of the Organization and see that their duties are properly performed.
6. Submit a report of the operations of the Organization for the preceding year to the members annually, and from time to time report to the Board of Directors on all matters within the Chair's knowledge which the interest of the Organization may require brought to their notice.
7. Formally evaluate the performance of person(s) charged with the responsibility of managing the Organization's operations and informally evaluate the effectiveness of the Board members.



Section 9. DUTIES OF THE VICE CHAIR. The Vice Chair shall be prepared to support the occupant of the office of Chair in any and all duties of that office. The Vice Chair will become lead director and chief volunteer officer of the Organization, provided he or she is elected through standard member election procedures. The Vice Chair shall spend his or her term becoming familiar with the duties that pertain to the office of Chair and other duties that may be assigned by the Board of Directors and/or Chair. In furtherance, but not in limitation of his or her office, the Vice Chair's primary duties shall be to:

1. Assist the Chair with the general duties of that office;
2. Perform any and all duties assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors and/or Chair;
3. Prepare to fill the office of Chair during the term following his or her term as Vice Chair;
4. Be a voting member of the Board Development Committee
5. Carry out the duties of the Chair if the Chair is unable to fulfill his/her obligation

Section 10. DUTIES OF THE SECRETARY. The Secretary shall perform all duties that pertain to the office of Secretary that may be assigned by the Chair and Board of Directors. In furtherance, but not in limitation of his or her office, the Secretary's primary duties shall be to:

1. Ensure that full and accurate minutes of all meetings of the members and Board of Directors are recorded and kept in a book designated for that purpose.
2. Give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the Board of Directors.
3. Send the ballots by any means permitted by applicable law, for the annual election and all other ballots required from time to time for votes of the membership or board of directors.
4. Maintain in current form the Bylaws of SIM.
5. Serve as SIM's "Custodian of Records" ensuring that the records are maintained as required by law and made available when required to authorized persons. These records may include founding documents (e.g., articles of incorporation), lists of directors, board and committee meeting minutes, financial reports, and other official records.
6. Maintain a current library of SIM's national policy and procedures.
7. Maintain custody of SIM's corporate seal and affix the same to all papers and documents whenever the seal shall be required to be so affixed.
8. Assume responsibilities of the chair in the absence of the Board Chair and Vice Chair.
9. Serve as the registered agent for SIM. This entails being the person upon whom legal notice to the corporation is served, and responsible for ensuring that documents necessary to maintain the corporation are filed.



Section 11. DUTIES OF THE TREASURER. The Treasurer shall be the Financial Officer of the Organization, shall fulfill the duties of Treasurer under Illinois law, and shall perform all duties that pertain to the office of Treasurer that may be assigned by the Chair and Board of Directors. In furtherance, but not in limitation of his or her office, the Treasurer's primary duties shall be to:

1. Serve as Chairperson for the Finance Committee of the Board.
2. Oversee the development and observation of SIM's financial policies.
3. Ensure the appropriate procedures are in place and followed to supervise and keep full and correct account of all receipts and disbursements of SIM.
4. Deposit the funds of SIM in such financial institutions as may be designated by the Board.
5. Oversee the investments of SIM's funds in accordance with such policies and procedures as may be established by the Board.
6. Keep the Board regularly informed, or upon request, of key financial events, trends, concerns and assessment of fiscal health in addition to completing required financial reporting forms in a timely fashion.
7. Prepare and present to the Policy Governance Board, prior to its annual meeting, an annual budget for SIM.
8. Furnish at the expense of SIM, a fidelity bond approved by the Policy Governance Board in such sum as the Policy Governance Board shall prescribe.
9. Cause the conduct of an annual audit of all SIM accounts, at the expense of SIM, by an independent Certified Public Accountant approved by the Policy Governance Board.
10. Supervise new ventures and alliance agreements and terms.

Section 12. DUTIES OF THE CHAIR EMERITUS. The Chair Emeritus will lead the Board Development Committee and perform any and all duties assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors and/or Chair.

Section 13. DUTIES OF OTHER DIRECTORS. The number, titles and duties of other Directors not detailed in this Article VI shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.



ARTICLE VII Headquarters

Section 1. EXECUTIVE HEADQUARTERS. The Organization Executive Headquarters will be the offices of the association management organization designated to provide administrative management and supporting services to the Organization.

Section 2. DUTIES. The designated headquarters office will be responsible for providing supporting services as prescribed in the terms of the contract and additional services as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors. These functions include general correspondence and assistance in administering to financial, publications, membership, meeting, annual conferences, workshops, chapters, special interest groups, committees, and other Organization business matters as may be so designated.

Section 3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE. The Chief Executive, and any other agent under contract with the Organization for the purpose of managing operations, will be appointed by the Chair, with the consent and approval of the Board of Directors. The Chief Executive will perform all administrative management and coordinate supporting services for the Organization as prescribed by the Board. The Chief Executive shall serve as an ex-officio, non-voting member of the Finance Committee, the Board of Directors, and the Management Council. The Chief Executive will be directly responsive to the Board of Directors except in respect to any duties which have been delegated to another officer or agent of the Organization, at which time the Chief Executive will be directly responsible to that officer or agent.

ARTICLE VIII Chapters

Section 1. ELIGIBILITY FOR CHARTER. Any group of individuals, including one or more Organization members, interested in the objectives of the Organization, and who work or reside in any location of the world not now served by an existing Chapter, may petition the Board of Directors for a charter to form a Chapter. Upon review and recommendation by the Board of Directors, a charter may be granted to the Chapter.

Section 2. CHARTERED CHAPTER CONCEPT. Each Chapter shall be established by its members as a legal entity, separate and apart from the Organization for all purposes, which shall govern itself and its activities to satisfy the special needs of its members. A Chapter shall not be deemed to be a subsidiary or division of the Organization for any purpose. Chapters shall be organized and operated in a manner consistent with these bylaws and any other Organization policies and procedures.

Section 3. CHAPTER GOVERNMENT. Each Chapter shall adopt its own governing instruments and bylaws, and shall establish its own governing body. Each Chapter shall be solely responsible for its debts and liabilities, and for fulfilling all requirements imposed by governmental authorities, including report and tax return requirements. Chapters shall not be responsible for the debts or liabilities of the Organization, or for fulfilling requirements of the Organization imposed by governmental authorities.

Section 4. CHAPTER REVOCATION. The Board of Directors shall have the right to revoke the charter of any Chapter if Chapter activities do not conform to the purpose and activities of the Organization as set forth in these bylaws, or the Chapter becomes inactive as determined by the Board.



Section 5. REPORTS. The Board of Directors may establish a requirement from time to time upon Chapters to report such matters as, but not limited to, financial condition, membership, programs, policies and procedures. Such recurring or one time reports would be received by the Organization's Secretary/Treasurer or its designee on behalf of the Board of Directors.

Section 6. MEMBERSHIP. Each Chapter member must be a member of the Organization.

ARTICLE IX Committees

Section 1. STANDING COMMITTEES. There shall be four standing committees:

1. Board Development Committee. The Board Development Committee shall consist of the Chair Emeritus, who shall lead the Committee, Vice Chair, a Chapter Representative from the Board, two other members of the Organization appointed by the chair, and three chapter leaders selected by the Board. The Board Development Committee shall carry out its responsibilities as described in Article VI of these bylaws.
2. Finance Committee. The Finance Committee shall consist of the Treasurer, who shall lead the Committee and three other Directors This Committee shall assist the Treasurer in fulfilling his or her duties as described in Article VI of these bylaws.
3. Personnel Committee. The Personnel Committee shall consist of the Chair, who shall lead the Committee, the Vice Chair, the Treasurer and at least one other Director. This committee shall provide the Board of Directors with recommendations regarding all major sourcing decisions, the hiring, firing and compensation structures for any operations executive management positions.
4. Executive Committee. This Committee is composed of the Chair, Vice Chair, and Chair Emeritus. The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Board operates smoothly and effectively. There is no explicit decision-making authority of the Executive Committee.

Section 2. SELECT COMMITTEES. Each Director may appoint select volunteer and staff teams, not having or exercising the authority of the Board of Directors, to aid and assist the Director and the Board of Directors in the management of the affairs of the Organization. Other teams may be established by majority vote of the Board of Directors. Select committees must include at minimum two Board members and serve for periods as determined by the Board of Directors or Officer who appointed them.

Section 3. POWERS OF COMMITTEES. Except as otherwise provided in these bylaws, all Committees shall submit their reports to the Board of Directors and no Committee shall take any action to commit the Organization as to policy, except as such power may be delegated to it by the Board of Directors. The Committee members attending a duly called meeting of any Committee shall constitute a quorum.



ARTICLE X Dues

Section 1. ANNUAL DUES. Annual dues for each class of membership will be approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors, by a simple majority, may in its discretion waive dues when it deems appropriate. The Board of Directors may determine from time to time the amount of initiation fee, if any.

Section 2. PAYMENT OF DUES. Dues for members of all classes shall be payable at the time of acceptance of application for membership and annually thereafter on the first of January of each year. New memberships shall be effective on the first of the month following acceptance of application.

Section 3. DEFAULT AND TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP. When any member of any class shall be in default in the payment of dues for a period of more than 75 days from the date on which such dues become payable, the membership may thereupon be terminated by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XI Property and Investments

Section 1. PROPERTY. All property, whether real, personal or mixed, received by the Organization by bequest, devise, gift, grant or otherwise, shall be held by the Organization or disposed of by it on such terms and conditions not inconsistent with the articles of incorporation, as the Board of Directors shall determine.

Section 2. INVESTMENTS. Unless otherwise specified by the terms of a particular gift, bequest or devise, grant or other instrument, the funds of the Organization may be invested, from time to time, in such manner as the Board of Directors may deem advantageous without regard to restrictions applicable to trustees or trust funds.

ARTICLE XII Books and Records

The Organization shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall also keep minutes of the proceedings of its members, Board of Directors and any Committee having any of the authority of the Board of Directors and shall keep at the registered or principal office a record giving the names and addresses of the members entitled to vote. All books and records of the Organization may be inspected by any member or his agent or attorney for any proper purpose at any reasonable time. A financial audit should be conducted at least annually.



ARTICLE XIII Financial Administration

Section 1. FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES. The Board of Directors shall have authority to prescribe such procedures as it deems appropriate to assure adequate budgetary and financial controls for the Organization. Approval of the budget by the Board of Directors shall constitute authority for responsible officials of the Organization to obligate funds as provided in the budget.

Section 2. DEPOSITORIES. All funds of the Organization not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Organization in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Directors may designate.

Section 3. CHECKS, DRAFTS, NOTES, ETC. All checks, or other orders for the payment of money and all notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued on the name of the Organization shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, of the Organization and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section 4. DISSOLUTION. In case of dissolution of the Organization and liquidation of its affairs, any money or other assets remaining after the payment of all obligations shall be distributed in such a manner as the Board of Directors may determine and direct, and in every case the decision and determination of the Board of Directors shall be final and conclusive upon all persons in any way interested.

Section 5. FISCAL YEAR. The fiscal year of the Organization shall end on the thirty-first day of December of each year. The terms of Officers and Board members shall conform to the fiscal year.

ARTICLE XIV Miscellaneous Provisions

Section 1. CORPORATE SEAL. The Corporate Seal of the Organization shall be circular in form, bearing the name of the Organization and the word "Illinois" in the marginal circle, and the words "Corporate Seal" in the inner circle. Said seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile or equivalent thereof to be impressed or affixed or reproduced.

Section 2. WAIVER OF NOTICE. Whenever any notice is required to be given by law, the articles of incorporation or these bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed the equivalent to the giving of such notice.

ARTICLE XV Amendments

These bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed, and new and other bylaws may be adopted by resolutions duly adopted by a majority of the Board of Directors presented in person or in writing at a duly constituted meeting of the Board of Directors.



WHERE
IT
LEADERS
CONNECT

ARTICLE XVI
Indemnification of Officers and Directors

Section 1. POWER TO INDEMNIFY. The Organization shall have the power to indemnify any person who is or was a director, officer, incorporator, employee or agent of the Organization, or who is or was serving at the request of the Organization as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, to the full extent permitted by law.

Section 2. LIABILITY INSURANCE. The Organization may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, incorporator, employee or agent of the Organization, or who is or was serving at the request of the Organization as a director, officer, incorporator, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against such liability asserted against him or her and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not the Organization would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability.



REVISION HISTORY

NOTE: Revision history is tracked from the last version of the document just prior to moving to the new SIM branding.

Version Date	Approved	Comments
1.0	29Apr2010	Baseline document.
2.0	01Dec2015	Standardize format; replace references to “society” with “organization”; revise to reflect split of Secretary and Treasurer positions into separate roles; correct references for Chief Executive vs Executive Director; remove outdated references to “Policy Governance Board.”